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Updated September 29, 2021 
 

ADDENDUM #1 
 

NOTICE TO ALL BIDDERS FOR 
CITY OF WINCHESTER 

RFP 202104 
 

This Addendum forms a part of the Contract Documents and modifies the original bidding documents 
for RFP 202104 dated August 2021.  Bidders shall acknowledge receipt of the Addendum in the space 
provided on the Bid Form and return a signed copy with your bid. 
 
This Addendum consists of 7 pages.  The following information shall modify and clarify the Contract 
Documents: 
 

1. Attachment #1 –Questions and Answers, and any updates, shall be part of the contract and 
hereby incorporated within. 

 
This Addendum must be signed and returned to the Finance Department – Purchasing Division, 4thFloor 
Rouss City Hall, 15 North Cameron Street, Winchester, VA 22601 by 2:00 p.m. local time on October 26, 
2021 with your BID. 
 
Receipt of Addendum #1 to Invitation to RFP 202104 is acknowledged by my signature below: 
 
Company Name:  _____________________________________________________ 
 
Authorized Representative: _____________________________________________ 
 
Address:  ___________________________________________________________ 
 
Telephone:  ____________________________  
 
Email address: ________________________________ 
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Attachment #1 
RFP 202104 

 
 
Q1. How many users will need to be using this document management system? 
A1. The new system should have the capability to accommodate up to 600 users. The majority of City’s 
users will need inquiry access only with approximately 60 users across 30 departments needing the 
ability to scan document. 
 
Q2 What type of documents are you storing? 
A2. Text based and graphical images with ability to scan card-sized documents and as well as 

documents exceeding 8.5 x 11. 

Q3 Please describe the workflow system so we can determine the cost estimate. 
A3. The workflow system should help our users automate document centric tasks across 
interdepartmental agencies. The City’s goal is to eliminate bottlenecks and efficiently process time-
based documents through each procedural step. 
 
Q4 Please describe the specifications of your technical requirements for the needed document 

management system, 
A4. The City is open to discussion of the technical requirements of your system. We currently use 
applications hosted on-premise and cloud-based. These applications are hosted on both physical and 
VMWare based 2012/2016 Windows servers as well as an IBMi mid-range application server. 
 
Q5. Is the City already engaged in any capacity with a vendor in regards to this project? 
A5. Yes, the City currently uses a document management system. 
 
Q6. Can the demonstration be conducted via a remote meeting? 
A6   Yes, the initial demonstration may be conducted via remote meeting. 
 
Q7. Is there a budget allocated to this project? What is the amount? 
A7. A pre-determined budget has not been allocated for this project since staff does not have a current           

understanding of the anticipated fiscal requirements for a project of this size and scope.  
 
Q8.  In regards to current documents and files, how much electronic data does the City currently have? 

How is it stored? Is a backfile conversion part of the initial scope? 
A8.   The City has approximately 6 million scanned and uploaded images stored primarily as TIFF files. 

Other images stored are a variety of .pdf, .jpg, .doc, etc. Yes, backfile conversion of these images 
would be part of the initial scope. 

 
Q9. What are the user licensing requirements? How many read, write users? How many read-only 

users? Is public access into the system required or of interest?  
A9. The new system should have the capability to accommodate up to 600 users. The majority of the 

City’s users will need inquiry access only with approximately 60 users across 30 departments 
needing the ability to scan/upload documents. Public access into the system is not required or of 
interest at this time.  
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Q10. We didn’t see a functional requirements document, are the only functions that you require in 
relation to workflow and Navaline integration? 

A10. In addition to Workflow and Centralsquare integration, our functional needs would be part of the 
current industry standardized document management systems found on the market today. It 
should include the 5 basic components, Scanning, Storage, Indexing, Retrieval, and Controlling 
Access. These type systems include our needs, but are not limited to: 

 Support PC clients of Windows 10. Any PC, monitor or printer that can be configured under this 
OS must be supported 

 Support Ethernet, TCP/IP network topology 
 Interface with PC applications 
 Interface with IBM iSeries 400 applications 
 Interface with Centralsquare Naviline governmental software 
 System must be capable of providing support for as many as 600 users 
 Color and black and white scanning, storage and retrieval capable 
 Advanced image processing with despeckle, deskew, deshade, and black line removal 
 Document tabbing allowing for grouping similar documents together 
 COLD capable capturing computer generated reports (i.e. iSeries 400 reports, PC application 

reports) with storage and retrieval functions with data compression. PDF support for captured 
spool files 

 Standard, fuzzy logic, wildcard and Boolean searching of captured spool file reports and 
documents 

 Image viewer capable of viewing black & white and color documents, iSeries 400 spool files, 
iSeries 400 spool files with AFP 

 Ability to markup existing images (redact, highlight, sticky notes, etc.) 
 Display multiple pages at once. Ability to rotate, zoom, pan images, etc. 
 Ability to import and index external documents into the system for viewing, printing, faxing, e-

mailing. 
 Use a TIFF or other non-proprietary image format to allow usage in PC desktop publishing or 

into other imaging systems 
 Versioning functions to keep track of all versions of an original document 
 Allow bar-code recognition and batch processing for high-volume scanning 
 Ability to provide secure access to imaged documents via internet, intranet, and remotely 
 Provide an audit trail, recording user name , date and time that actions were performed on a 

document 
 Ability to set retention schedules to comply with various governmental requirements 
 Capability to provide security and access rights by users and groups 
 Indexing to include OCR, keywords, full text retrieval for documents. Use of templates to assign 

index fields. Visual folder/file structure. 
 Comprehensive Help documentation for the system. Administrator and User. 
 24/7 technical assistance. 
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System should accommodate at a minimum the following scanning solutions: 

 Workgroup/Desktop scanners at 25 to 40 ppm 
 TWAIN compliant scanner, currently use Canon and Brother scanners 
 Color/B&W capable 
 USB support 
 Automatic Document Feeder capable(ADF) 
 Two-sided scanning capable 
 Portrait and Landscape 
 Handle paper sizes from credit card to legal size 

 
Q11. Was this RFP assembled with any assistance from a specific vendor(s) or consultant(s) and, if yes, 

whom? 
A11.  No 
 
Q12. Is there any preference for an on-premise solution versus a secure, cloud-based SaaS solution? 
A12.   The City is open to either approach 
 
Q13.  Has a budget been allocated for this project yet? 
A13.  A pre-determined budget has not been allocated for this project since staff does not have a 

current understanding of the anticipated fiscal requirements for a project of this size and scope. 
 
Q14. Is any Document Management System already in use by any department? 
A14.  Yes. 
 
Q15. Which departments will use/benefit from the Document Management System? 
A15. The system should be capable of providing document management services city-wide to include 30 

departments and 600 users 
 
Q16. Is there a need for smart, intelligent forms, dashboards and/or analytics? 
A16. A demonstration of these capabilities would be welcome. 
 
Q17. What kind of files, how many and what is the total size of files that need to be imported? 
A17. The City has approximately 6 million scanned and uploaded images stored primarily as TIFF files. 

Other images stored are a variety of .pdf, .jpg, .doc, etc. A backfile migration of these images 
would be part of the initial project scope. 

 
Q18. What is the estimated current number of documents created/modified each day that would be 

stored in the Document Management System? 
A18. With volume/batch scanning in place,  it is not unusual to process thousands of documents in a  

single day 
 
Q19. Can you please describe the workflows and provide some samples? 
A19. The City is not currently using Workflow but the system should help our users automate document 

centric tasks across interdepartmental agencies. Our goal is to eliminate bottlenecks and efficiently 
process time-based documents through each procedural step. 
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Q20. What are the expected integrations with the listed applications and what are some of the use- 
cases examples? 

A20. The primary integration would be for our CentralSquare public sector software. This encompasses 
financials, community services(building permits, business license, code enforcement, tax billing, 
land/parcel management), purchasing, work orders, etc. An example would be an employee 
number wherein the user would inquire in our CentralSquare system and your DMS would display 
the relevant document images related to the employee. We also desire an integration to Microsoft 
Excel spreadsheets wherein relevant images would be displayed upon selecting a Cell from the 
spreadsheet.  

 
Q21  Is there a need for a backfile conversion to scan and import existing paper files into the Document 

Management System? 
A21. Yes. This would be part of the initial project scope. 
 
Q22 When will Vendors have the opportunity to demonstrate their solutions? 
A22. RFP responses will be accepted until October 6, 2021. Qualified vendors will be notified of 

demonstration scheduling soon thereafter. 
 
Q23. What is the total number of users needed?   
A23. The new system should have the capability to accommodate up to 600 users. The majority of our 

users will need inquiry access only with approximately 60 users across 30 departments needing 
the ability to scan/upload documents  

 
Q24. And, is the City looking to get trained in the system and build out these workflows themselves or 

interested in having the vendor perform it? 
A24. A decision has not been made on this project task. The City would welcome a collaboration with 

the vendor to determine the best path forward. 
 
Q25 On page 4 of the RFP, it specifies that “Contractor shall provide a management system that 

interfaces with Central Square Naviline.” Please clarify the extent of integration required with 
Naviline and for which modules within Naviline? 

A25. The question 10 response includes the applications we are looking to integrate with from 
CentralSquare. However, for any future module add-ons for our CentralSquare system, the DMS 
system should be able to integrate with that applications “Key” fields to display relevant document 
images. The example in the Question 10 response should serve as the model to be used across 
applications. 

 
Q26. Does the selected vendor need to have existing customers who use Naviline or is it sufficient to just 

validate that the Document Management System is able to integrate with Naviline? 
A26. It is not necessary for the selected vendor to be a CentralSquare partner. However, this 

relationship would be helpful to the City’s decision based upon reference contacting. 
 
Q27.  I’m assuming Microsoft, but would like to confirm should that not be the case. 
A27.  Yes, Microsoft, and specifically Excel. We currently have four spreadsheets that contain archived 

data entries (prior to our IBM public sector software suite and wasn’t migrate-able). The 
spreadsheets need to be interfaced with the new system by using Key Indexed fields that are 
defined to a specific Column and Cell point in the spreadsheet.  
No other PC applications will need to use an interface except as described above. 
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 Q28 Does the City prefer on-premise or hosted for the Document Management System? 
A28. Open to either option. 
  
Q29. Please confirm the way Naviline is currently used as an app that runs thru IBM3270 emulator 

(terminal/green screen)? Please expand on the requested integration. Are you requesting to 
pull/link documents from Naviline to the Document Management System, etc.? 

A29. 2. Our use of Central Square’s Naviline does not run thru PC5250(or 3270) emulation, but rather an 
HTML5 based application. The DMS solution must have the capability to display images when a pre-
defined Indexed Key field is selected from within the Naviline application. An example would be 
where a user would inquire/select an employee number(key field) in our payroll system and the 
DMS solution would automatically display the relevant digital documents for that employee 
number in your viewer. 

 
Q30. Is the City requesting Professional Services to implement departments with the new Document 

Management System or just maybe just initial Consulting Services with a key department, maybe 
IT, to train the trainer, etc.? 

A.30 The City’s preference would be to train the trainer, IT Staff in this instance. However, the City 
would welcome a discussion on the costs and benefits to the City of having the selected vendor 
implement the solution City-wide. 

 
Q31 If you are requesting Professional Services for departmental implementation, what are the 

departments? 
A31. 4. If decision for a city-wide vendor implementation, we currently have 30 departments 

encompassing a full range of local governmental services. 
  
Q32.  If you are requesting Professional Services for departmental implementation, what is the total full 

named users versus maybe read-only users? 
A32. If decision for a city-wide vendor implementation, the total number of our users is approximately 

600. Of the 600, approximately 60 would need the ability to scan and upload documents to the 
DMS. The City’s preference would be a concurrent licensing model as opposed to a Full Named 
model, as suggested in your question. If only a Full Named licensing model is available, then the 
number of licenses would gradually increase to 600 users over time of implementations. 

 
Q33. Is there a list that we can be added to, since we were not notified of the released Q&A and have 

just seen it this afternoon? Plus, we want to be sure to be notified of any future addendums. 
A33. There is no list. Firms are responsible for referencing the City’s website for all updates. 
 
Q34. In light of just seeing the official Q&A now, are we able to have an extension, so that we can 

provide a more thorough response? 
A34. See addendum #2. 
 

Q35. Ever since Covid, local Governments have shifted from hard copy RFP submissions to complete 
electronic submissions via either a vendor portal, e-procurement system, or email. Can you please 
confirm that email will be an acceptable format and that the hardcopy requirement will not be 
enforced? FYI, if the latter, we will likely not have ample time to respond. 
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A35. The City is NOT receiving proposals via email. The City is NOT waiving the submission requirements 
listed in RFP 202104. 

 

Q36. Please confirm that we need to quote on 60 users for the system with the understanding that the 
system can be easily expanded to accommodate city-wide licensing for up to 600 users.   

A36. No, 60 users is the approximate number of user’s that will need licensed permissions to update the 
system, i.e. scan, import, redact, edit, etc. The approximate 540 remaining users will need 
inquiry/view access only. This is stated to differentiate the permissions of available licensing 
models in some DMS systems. It is not known at this time how many actual license would be 
needed for a first phase rollout, but the quote should reflect the accommodation of 600 users. 

 

Q37. Please confirm that the required integration between Naviline and the DMS would be the ability to 
retrieve documents while being in the Naviline application based on a particular identifier e.g. 
employee number? 

A37. Yes. 
 
 
Q38. Please confirm that the City has not received any proposals in any form for this solicitation and that 

there really is a sincere interest in exploring current Document Management Systems? 
A38.  Confirmed. 
 
Q39. Can you please confirm that the City is currently using a SAAS Document Management System? 
A39. No, it’s on-prem.  
 
Q40.  Can you please state what are the specific reasons that the City is considering migrating out of the 

current DMS? 
A40. No. 
 
 
Q41. Can you please share what the City currently pays on a monthly or yearly basis for the current 

DMS? 
A41. Lasted Invoice $38,881. 
 
Q42.  Can you please confirm that only "PART I – SUBMITTAL CONTENT" on page 7 of the main RFP 

document needs to be responded to at this time and not "PART II – SUBMITTAL CONTENT" on 
page 8? 

A42. Section II is for interviews, if required, and is to be presented at the time of the interview.  
 
 
 
 
 

 



Page 8 RFP 202104 
 

 

 

  
  
 
 
  


